
 

 

 

 
Meeting 
 

Council 
 

Date and Time 
 

Wednesday, 18th September, 2024 at 6.30 pm. 

Venue 
 

Council Chamber, Castle Hill, Winchester SO23 8UL 

 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an Ordinary Meeting of the Council will be held at 
6.30 pm on Wednesday, 18th September, 2024 in the Council Chamber, Castle Hill, 
Winchester SO23 8UL and all Members of the Council are summoned to attend. 

 
Note: This meeting is being held in person at the location specified above. Members 
of the public should note that the meeting will be streamed live to the council’s You 
Tube channel (www.youtube.com/WinchesterCC). 
 
A limited number of seats will be made available at the above named location, 
however attendance must be notified to the council at least 3 working days before 
the meeting. Please note that priority will be given to those having registered to 
speak during the Public Question session over those wishing to attend and observe. 
Please note that Questions must be received in writing by Democratic Services 
(democracy@winchester.gov.uk) prior to 10am, five working days preceding the day 
of the council meeting.  
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 

1.   Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of the Council held on 16 July 2024 and 
the Extraordinary Meeting of the Council held on 28 August 2024 (Pages 
5 - 12) 
 

2.   Disclosure of Interests  
 To receive any disclosure of interests from Members or Officers in 

matters to be discussed. 
Note: Councillors are reminded of their obligations to declare disclosable 
pecuniary interests, personal and/or prejudicial interests in accordance 
with the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

3.   Announcements from the Mayor, Leader and Chief Executive.  
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.youtube.com/WinchesterCC
mailto:democracy@winchester.gov.uk


4.   Questions from Members of the Public  
 To receive and answer and questions from the public. 

(Questions must be received in writing by Democratic Services – 
democracy@winchester.gov.uk – no later than 10am on Wednesday 11 
September 2024) 
 

5.   To receive petitions  
 In accordance with Council Meeting Procedure Rule 22, a petition was 

submitted by the Highcliffe Community Forum containing 329 
signatures. 
 
“We, the undersigned, request that Winchester City Council provides space 
for a community hub to serve Highcliffe and the local area in any 
redevelopment of the Bar End Depot site.” 
 

6.   To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: of 
Cabinet held 11 September 2024 - Housing Revenue Account Nutrient 
Mitigation Proposal (CAB3459) - draft minute of Cabinet to be circulated 
separately (Pages 13 - 28) 

  

That Cabinet recommends Council: 

 

1. Approves an HRA capital budget of £900,000 to implement works 

on plant upgrades funded by and on behalf of Partnership for 

South Hampshire (PfSH). 

 

That Cabinet: 

 

2. Subject to Council approval of the budget: 

 

a) Approves capital expenditure of up to £200,000, funded by the Ministry 

of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) via 

Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH), for feasibility and initial 

works. 

b) Approves capital expenditure of up to £700,000, funded by MHCLG via 

PfSH, for the implementation of works on further plant upgrades 

following agreed business cases with PfSH. 

 

3. Delegates to Strategic Director and Director – Legal, in consultation 

with Cabinet Member for Place and the Local Plan, the authority to 

enter into necessary agreements with Fareham Borough Council on 

behalf of PfSH in order to receive the grant funds and establish 

working arrangements to implement the project and sell credits 

generated. 

 

mailto:democracy@winchester.gov.uk


4. Delegates the procurement of any works or services to the Strategic 

Director and that the Strategic Director be authorised to award 

contracts and enter into all necessary legal agreements with the 

preferred bidder(s). 

 

7.   Information for Council  
 South Downs National Park Authority: Cllr Jerry Pett 

 

8.   Changes to Committee Memberships  
 To receive any resignations from committees and to make any necessary re-

appointments. 
 

9.   Questions from Members of Council  
 The total time for questions and the answer and supplementaries thereto 

shall not exceed 40 minutes. 
 

 
LAURA TAYLOR 

Chief Executive 
 

All of the Council’s publicly available agendas, reports and minutes are 
available to view and download from the Council’s Website and are also open 
to inspection at the offices of the council.  As part of our drive to minimise our 
use of paper we do not provide paper copies of the full agenda pack at 
meetings. We do however, provide a number of copies of the agenda front 
sheet at the meeting which contains the QR Code opposite. Scanning this 
code enables members of the public to easily access all of the meeting papers 
on their own electronic device. Please hold your device’s camera or QR code 
App over the QR Code so that it's clearly visible within your screen and you 

will be redirected to the agenda pack.  

 

 
10 September 2024 
 
Agenda Contact: David Blakemore, Democratic Services Team Manager 
Tel: 01962 848217   Email: dblakemore@winchester.gov.uk 
 
 
Quorum = 15 members 
 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
Members of the public may ask questions of the Leader, Cabinet Members and 
Committee Chairs at Ordinary Meetings of the Council. The total time allocated for 
questions by the public shall normally be limited to 20 minutes. 
 
A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing to 
Democratic Services no later than 5 working days preceding the Council meeting. 
For example, if the Council meeting is being held at 7pm on a Wednesday then the 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


question would need to be received by noon on the preceding Wednesday.  Please 
email to democracy@winchester.gov.uk. 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
 
This meeting will be recorded and broadcast live on the Council’s website. The 
meeting may also be recorded and broadcast by the press and members of the 
public – please see the Access to Information Procedure Rules within the Council's 
Constitution for further information, which is available to view on the Council’s 
website. 
 
 
DISABLED ACCESS: 
 
Disabled access is normally available, but please phone Democratic Services on 
01962 848 264 or email democracy@winchester.gov.uk to ensure that the necessary 
arrangements are in place. 
 
 
 

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=352&MId=2032&info=1&Ver=4
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=352&MId=2032&info=1&Ver=4


 

 
 

COUNCIL 
 

Tuesday, 16 July 2024 
Attendance: 

 
Councillors Present 

 
Gordon-Smith (Mayor) 

 
Aron 
Latham 
White 
Bennett 
Achwal S 
Achwal V 
Batho 
Brook 
Brophy 
Chamberlain 
Clear 
Cook 
Cramoysan 
Cunningham 
Cutler 
Eve 
Horrill 
Laming 
Langford-Smith 
 

Learney 
Lee 
Miller 
Morris 
Murphy 
Pett 
Porter 
Power 
Rutter 
Scott 
Small 
Thompson 
Tippett-Cooper 
Tod 
Wallace 
Warwick 
Westwood 
Williams 
Wise 
 

  
Apologies for Absence:  
 
Councillors Pinniger, Becker, Bolton, Godfrey, Greenberg and Reach. 
 
Recording of Meeting  
 

 
1.    MINUTES OF THE ORDINARY MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD ON 22 

FEBRUARY 2024 AND THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD ON 
15 MAY 2024.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the Ordinary meeting of the Council held on 22 February 
2024 and the Annual Meeting of the Council held on 15 May 2024 be approved 
and adopted.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=I6rxOXFbevg


 

 
 

2.    DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS.  
 
Councillors Porter, Tod, Wallace and Warwick each declared personal (but non 
prejudicial) interests in respect of the agenda items due to their role as County 
Councillors. 
 
Councillors Eve and Murphy both declared non-pecuniary interests in respect of 
agenda item 9, Questions from Members of the Council, regarding Question 5 
which referred to the University of Southampton, which was both their employer. 
However, both councillors confirmed that neither held a role that was strategic or 
managerial.     
 

3.    ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE MAYOR, LEADER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE.  
 
The Mayor advised that he was to attend the unveiling of a war memorial 
dedicated to local parishioners of St Maurices’ Church, Winchester and also the 
opening of the new King George V playing fields pavilion facility at Bar End. He 
also announced forthcoming charities events and then reported that he was to 
congratulate the following recipients of the recent King’s Birthday Honours: 
 

Janet Lewis of Winchester - Deputy Director, Cabinet Office Legal 
Advisers.  An OBE for Public Service. 
 
David Andre Happy of Alresford - Managing Director, Telint. An MBE for 
services to Telecommunications and to Technology. 
 
Nicola Jane Iles of Winchester - Head, Special Projects and Deputy Clerk, 
Privy Council. An MBE for services to the Accession Council. 

 
Valarie Mary Etteridge of Winchester.  A BEM for services to the 
community in Otterbourne. 

   
The Leader firstly welcomed councillors recently elected and then advised that 
he had written to the three new MPs whose constituencies were part of the 
Winchester district.  He had advised them that the council was open to working 
together on issues of common interest to our residents, highlighting the 
important role of local councils in delivering services to residents and inviting 
them each to provide views on the forthcoming refreshed Council Plan.  
 
He was also to meet with new Leaders of neighbouring authorities and 
Hampshire County Council and referred to the Hampshire Prosperity Board, 
areas of common interest and the government’s approach to devolution.  The 
Leader then reported that the new deputy prime minister had thanked councils 
for their work to deliver the services that residents rely on, also highlighting the 
importance of economic growth to assist with their continued improvement.   The 
way forward for devolution deals had also been set out.   
 
Finally, the Winchester City Council had recently been subject to a Corporate 
Peer Challenge Review, and the Leader then thanked everyone for the work in 
achieving the positive feedback that had been received. 
 

Page 6



 

 
 

The Chief Executive announced apologies for the meeting. 
 

4.    QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC.  
 
Two written questions had been received from members of the public of whom 
one attended the meeting to present their question. Supplementary questions 
were also asked from those present. The questions received and their response 
were subsequently set out on the council’s website. 
 

5.    TO CONSIDER AND DETERMINE THE FOLLOWING RECOMMENDED 
MINUTE OF THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD 6 JUNE 2024 - ANNUAL 
SCRUTINY REPORT 2023/24 (SC093).  
 
Councillor Brook (Chairperson of the Scrutiny Committee) moved that the 
recommended minute of the Scrutiny Committee be approved and adopted 
(seconded by Councillor Horrill). 
 
There were no questions or debate of the matters in the recommended minute 
and report.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommended minute of the Scrutiny Committee held 6 June 2024 be 
approved and adopted: 
 

That the Annual Scrutiny Report for 2023/24 be noted. 
 

6.    RECRUITMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSONS (CL171).  
 
Councillor Power moved that the recommendations in Report CL171 be 
approved and adopted (seconded by Councillor Chamberlain). 
 
There were no questions or debate of the matters in the report and the 
recommendations for Council.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To the following three individuals be appointed as Independent Persons: 

a. Alan Harrison 

b. Linda Phillips 

c. Peter Baulf 

2. That Council extend its sincere gratitude to the Council’s outgoing Independent 
Person, Mr Michael Cronin for his dedicated service and invaluable contributions 
over the past seven years. 

7.    NOTICES OF MOTION.  
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15, one motion had been submitted 
for Council. 
 

Page 7

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4716&Ver=4


 

 
 

The motion had been submitted by Councillor Lee and was as set out on the 
agenda.  The motion was seconded by Councillor Wallace.  Following its 
introduction by Councillor Lee, Council then debated the matters in the motion.  
In summary the following points were raised: 
 

• Much of the detail of the motion had already been pledged or was already 
being delivered by the Council.  The third resolution of the motion had 
already investigated by the Liberal Democrats at Hampshire County 
Council. 
 

• Winchester City Council had been commended for its work in delivering a 
climate action plan. 
  

• The new MP for Winchester had undertaken to take proposals for 
meaningful action regarding climate change to parliament. 
 

• Hampshire County Council had already considered a proposal to 
accelerate its decarbonisation plans, however this had been defeated at a 
previous meeting of the county council.  
 

• The council worked in partnership with the South Downs National Park, 
which had reported considerable progress in achieving its various targets 
regarding re-naturing etc.   

 
Having reserved his right to speak, the seconder of the motion (Councillor 
Wallace) then addressed Council, followed by the proposer of the motion 
(Councillor Lee) who exercised his right to respond to debate.  The Council then 
voted on the motion as set out on the agenda. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the motion proposed by Councillor Lee (seconded by Councillor Wallace) 
be not supported. 
 

8.    CHANGES TO COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIPS.  
 
There were no changes to committee memberships for council to note. 
 

9.    QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL.  
 
12 written questions had been received, 11 of which were heard at the meeting 
along with associated supplementary questions, with the responses to all the 
questions received and their response subsequently set out on the council’s 
website. 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and concluded at 8.10 pm 
 
 
 

The Mayor 

Page 8

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4716&Ver=4
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4716&Ver=4


 

 
 

COUNCIL (EXTRAORDINARY MEETING) 
 
 

Wednesday, 28 August 2024 
Attendance: 

 
Councillors Present 

 
Gordon-Smith (Chairperson) 

 
Aron 
Pinniger 
Latham 
White 
Bennett 
Achwal S 
Achwal V 
Batho 
Becker 
Bolton 
Brook 
Brophy 
Chamberlain 
Clear 
Cook 
Cramoysan 
Cunningham 
Cutler 
Godfrey 
Horrill 
 

Laming 
Langford-Smith 
Learney 
Lee 
Miller 
Morris 
Murphy 
Pett 
Porter 
Power 
Reach 
Rutter 
Scott 
Thompson 
Tod 
Wallace 
Warwick 
Williams 
Wise 
 

  
Apologies for Absence:  
 
Councillors Eve, Greenberg, Small, Tippett-Cooper and Westwood 
 
Recording of meeting  
 

 
1.    DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS  

 
Councillor Cutler declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in respect of the 
Recommended Minute of Cabinet – Winchester District Proposed Submission 
Local Plan (Regulation 19) (CAB3462 refers). He then immediately left the 
meeting and took no part in any discussion or decision thereon. 
 
Councillors Porter, Tod, Wallace and Warwick each declared personal (but non 
prejudicial) interests in respect of agenda items that may be related to their role 
as County Councillors. 
 
 

Page 9

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4727&Ver=4


 

 
 

2.    ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE MAYOR  
 
The Mayor paid tribute to former councillor and Mayor of Winchester (2011 – 
2012) Barry Lipscomb who had recently passed away.  With the leave of the 
Mayor, Councillor Godfrey then provided his own personal recollections of his 
former fellow ward member and colleague.  Council then stood in silent tribute to 
his memory. 
 

3.    QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 
10 written questions had been received from members of the public, of which 5 
were heard by those who had attended the meeting to present their questions. 
Supplementary questions were also asked. The questions received and their 
response were subsequently set out on the council’s website, including the 
written responses to those questions where the questioner was not present.   
 

4.    QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL  
 
9 written questions had been received, which were heard at the meeting along 
with associated supplementary questions, with the responses to all the questions 
received and their response subsequently set out on the council’s website. 
 

5.    TO CONSIDER AND DETERMINE THE FOLLOWING RECOMMENDED 
MINUTE OF CABINET HELD 19 AUGUST 2024 - WINCHESTER DISTRICT 
PROPOSED SUBMISSION LOCAL PLAN (REGULATION 19) (CAB3462) - 
DRAFT MINUTE OF CABINET TO BE CIRCULATED SEPARATELY.  
 
Councillor Porter (Cabinet Member for Cabinet Member for Place and Local 
Plan) moved that the recommended minute of Cabinet (Recommendations 1 – 5) 
be approved and adopted (seconded by Councillor Tod, Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Asset Management). 
 
Council proceeded to ask questions and then debate the matters in the 
recommended minute. 
 
AMENDMENT – Moved by Councillor Godfrey and seconded by Councillor 
Langford-Smith:  
 

‘Under Rule of Procedure 20.9.4 – to refer back for reconsideration by 
Cabinet part of Recommended Minute 1, that being the Winchester 
District Proposed Submission Local Plan (Regulation 19) Policy D6 
Brownfield Development and Making Best Use of Land.   
 
The policy does not optimise the use of previously developed land within 
existing settlements, so requiring greenfield sites in rural areas of the 
district to be allocated for development in this plan unnecessarily.’ 

 
As the Mayor was satisfied that there had been adequate debate of the original 
Motion at this point of the meeting, he called for a short adjournment whilst the 
Amendment was circulated in writing.  
 

Page 10

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4727&Ver=4
https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4727&Ver=4


 

 
 

Upon its reconvening, Council proceeded to debate the matters in the 
Amendment.   At conclusion of debate, Councillor Porter was invited to exercise 
her right of reply before Council voted on the Amendment. 
 
AMENDMENT LOST.  
 
Following further debate of the substantive Motion (which was the 
Recommended Minute of Cabinet) and then summing up by the proposer 
(Councillor Porter) and Councillor Tod then exercising his final right of reply, 
Council voted on the Recommended Minute before it. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommended minute of Cabinet held 19 August 2024 (as follows) be 
approved and adopted: 
 
1.  That the Winchester District Proposed Submission Local Plan (Regulation 
19) (Appendix 1) and the accompanying Integrated Impact Assessment 
(Appendix 2) and Habitats Regulations Assessment (Appendix 3) are approved 
for Publication for a period of 6 weeks anticipated to start on 29 August 2024;  
 
2.  That following Publication, the Winchester District Proposed Submission 
Local Plan (Regulation 19) and supporting documents be submitted to the 
Secretary of State for Examination, together with the Regulation 19 
representations and a summary;  
 
3. That authority be delegated to the Strategic Planning Manager in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Place and Local Plan to prepare an 
addendum to the Plan that may be necessary to address soundness issues 
raised by representations received in response to the Regulation 19 public 
consultation and submit this addendum along with the Local Plan to the Planning 
Inspectorate; 
 
4. That authority be delegated to the Strategic Planning Manager in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Place and Local Plan to agree to any 
Main Modifications and to undertake a 6 week public consultation on any Main 
Modifications that arise out of the Local Plan examination process and for this 
information to be forwarded to the Planning Inspectorate; 

 
5. That authority be delegated to the Strategic Planning Manager in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Place and Local Plan to make any 
necessary editorial changes and minor amendments to the Winchester District 
Proposed Submission Local Plan (Regulation 19), Integrated Impact 
Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment, prior to Publication, 
Submission and during the Examination, to assist with consistency, explanation, 
graphic design and presentation and to enable any clarification necessary to 
outline how the proposals are consistent with government policy and the latest 
consultation version of the NPPF. 
 
 
 

Page 11



 

 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and concluded at 10.30 pm (adjourned between 
8.15 pm and 8.25 pm, and also between 9.45 pm and 9.55 pm) 

 
 
 

The Mayor 

Page 12



  
 

 

 
 

CAB3459 
CABINET 

 
 
 

REPORT TITLE: PARTNERSHIP FOR SOUTH HAMPSHIRE NUTRIENT 
MITIGATION PROPOSAL 

11 SEPTEMBER 2024 

REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER:  

Cllr Jackie Porter, Cabinet Member for Place and Local Plan and; 

Cllr Chris Westwood, Cabinet Member for Housing 
 

Contact Officer:  Robert Green    Tel No: 01962 848 583 Email 
rgreen@winchester.gov.uk  

WARD(S):  ALL WARDS 
 
 

 

 
PURPOSE 

In 2019, Natural England issued advice to Winchester City Council that requires all 
new overnight development (e.g. houses, hotels, care homes) to mitigate for any 
increase in nutrient pollution arising from development that may harm internationally 
protected sites (such as the Solent Special Protection Area).  

Developments which require Nitrate mitigation only can be approved as there is 
sufficient Nitrate mitigation available in the market. 

Further advice was issued in March 2022 requiring the further mitigation of 
Phosphorus for new overnight accommodation within the catchment of the River 
Itchen. 

The Council has a statutory duty under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017, as amended, to ensure that development within the district does 
not worsen the situation. 

The impact of this has been a number of planning applications cannot be determined 
whilst a Phosphorus mitigation solution is awaited, and mitigation needs to be 
demonstrated in the upcoming examination of the Council’s Local Plan. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

  

The council’s strategy to enable nutrient mitigation solutions is threefold. 

Firstly, the council is generating nutrient credits by upgrading its own waste-water 
treatment works (WwTW). Works on 2 plants have been completed and the credits 
have been used to mitigate the council’s own housing schemes. In July, (CAB3470 
refers) Cabinet approved a further 4 upgrades using the Housing Revenue Account 
and the sale of surplus credits to private developers.  

The council is also supporting third-party mitigation schemes and water efficiency 
measures in its own housing stock to generate further credits.  

The Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) will provide WCC with grant funds to 
upgrade further WCC owned WwTW, with the credits generated being managed by 
PfSH. The release of this funding has been approved by the PfSH Joint Committee 
on 23 July 2024. 

These initiatives complement each other to address the demand for nutrient credits 
in the district.  

The purpose of this report is to seek permission to accept the PfSH funding and 
delegate authority to enter into agreements to implement the PfSH WwTW upgrade 
project.  

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That Cabinet recommends Council: 

 

 

1. Approves an HRA capital budget of £900,000 to implement works on plant 

upgrades funded by and on behalf of Partnership for South Hampshire 

(PfSH). 

That Cabinet: 

2. Subject to Council approval of the budget: 

 

a) Approves capital expenditure of up to £200,000, funded by the Ministry of 

Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) via Partnership for 

South Hampshire (PfSH), for feasibility and initial works. 

b) Approves capital expenditure of up to £700,000, funded by MHCLG via PfSH, 

for the implementation of works on further plant upgrades following agreed 

business cases with PfSH. 

 

Page 14



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

3. Delegates to Strategic Director and Director – Legal, in consultation with 

Cabinet Member for Place and the Local Plan, the authority to enter into 

necessary agreements with Fareham Borough Council on behalf of PfSH in 

order to receive the grant funds and establish working arrangements to 

implement the project and sell credits generated. 

 

4. Delegates the procurement of any works or services to the Strategic Director 

and that the Strategic Director be authorised to award contracts and enter into 

all necessary legal agreements with the preferred bidder(s).  

 

 

Page 15



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

IMPLICATIONS: 
 
1 COUNCIL PLAN OUTCOME  

1.1 Tackling the Climate Emergency and Creating a Greener District 

The upgrade of PTPs ensures that water quality discharged from the plants is 
improved and operates using more efficient plant. The associated water 
efficiency measures result in reduced water usage. 

1.2 Homes for all 

The mitigation and selling of nutrient credits would enable the assessment 
and determination of planning applications which at time of writing equates to 
134 units of housing.  

The project also ensures that the Regulation 19 Local Plan demonstrates 
nutrient mitigation options to meet the housing requirements up to 2040 and 
that the City Council can mitigate its own New Homes programme in the 
delivery of affordable housing.  

The creation of a Nutrient Mitigation scheme allows developments to provide 
homes across the District, including Affordable Housing provision. 

1.3 Vibrant Local Economy 

A number of developments held in abeyance are to be completed by local 
small to medium sized enterprises, including local developers and 
construction companies and the creation of a Nutrient Mitigation scheme 
allows for development to be achieved, resulting in construction employment 
and supporting the local economy.  

1.4 Living Well 

A council motion was passed on 6 July 2022 to protect our local rivers and 
waterways by taking account of the cumulative impact of pollution including 
sewage discharge. The investment for the replacement of PTPs with 
improved and more efficient equipment results in water quality improvements, 
reducing the amount of pollution from sewage discharge in these areas. 

1.5 Your Services, Your Voice 

Ensuring a supply of housing is important to make sure the Council is able to 
show that it is delivering new homes in line with the requirements of the Local 
Plan, to meet housing delivery tests and to establish it has a 5-year housing 
land supply.  

 

 

Page 16



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

2.1 The structure of the proposed partnership working is that WCC will procure on 
behalf of PfSH works to upgrade our WwTW’s on their behalf, creating credits 
that can be used as mitigation for development.    

2.2 PfSH agreed a fund of £900,000 at the Joint Committee on 23 July 2024. This 
will be provided to WCC, subject to a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
and/or Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) which outlines how the funds can be 
spent, to undertake WwTW upgrades only.  

2.3 An initial £200,000 will be provided to fund feasibility works and to undertake 
works on a small number of plants. 

2.4 A further £700,000 will be provided once all technical work has been 
completed and assessed. The plant upgrades will be subject to business 
cases completed by WCC alongside PfSH Officers and agreed with PfSH 
Chief Executives prior to the release of further grant funding. 

2.5 PfSH will market the ‘credits’ generated by the upgrades. Any revenue will be 
managed by PfSH and recirculated back into further nutrient mitigation 
schemes across the region.  

2.6 WCC will retain the ownership of the WwTWs and will directly financially 
benefit as the upgrades to these plants will be funded by grant.  The existing 
plants are already maintained by the council and additional budget is not 
required for their maintenance as a consequence of these works. 

2.7 Where WCC carries out procurement, contract management, any other 
administration and monitoring of the sites being upgraded for the creation of 
PfSH credits, WCC will be reimbursed by PfSH for these costs.  These 
arrangements will be secured by the MoU/IAA. 

2.8 At each stage, the amount to be transferred to WCC from PfSH/FBC will be 
agreed before any spend is committed. 

 

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  

3.1 The £900,000 provided by PfSH/FBC will be subject to a Memorandum of 
Understanding and/or Inter-Authority Agreement. These will ensure that WCC 
spend the funds on nutrient mitigation projects to enable the procurement and 
administration of the projects.  

3.2 The selected projects will be agreed alongside PfSH prior to commencement 
of works.  

3.3 The Inter-Authority agreement will establish the principles of the collaborative 
relationship between members of PfSH. It sets out the working and funding 

Page 17



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

arrangements in a co-operative way to meet shared obligations and 
objectives, to deliver the projects to be funded by PfSH across the region, 
including the WCC PTP upgrades. 

3.4 Monitoring of the nutrient credit scheme arising from the plant upgrade may 
fall to WCC or another PfSH authority, however any WCC resources used will 
be reimbursed by PfSH under the terms of the IAA. The monitoring 
arrangements will be secured under appropriate legal arrangements.   The 
ownership of the PTPs or any other council owned assets will remain with the 
council.   

3.5 Any works or services procured by WCC on behalf of PfSH/FBC will be in 
accordance with the council’s Contract Procedure Rules and where applicable 
external legislation. 

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS  

4.1 Under the agreements, PfSH/FBC may commission WCC to procure 
construction works and client manage this procurement. WCC will recharge 
PfSH/FBC for these costs at a rate agreed in advance. 

4.2 Following completion of the works, the PfSH team will provide the administrative 
resource for the sale of generated credits with no further demand on the WCC 
existing workforce in this respect. 

4.3 The monitoring of the works is to be established by the PfSH agreements but 
may rely on the Service Lead – Engineering. Remuneration will form part of the 
agreement to ensure this work is resourced. 

4.4 Legal and finance resources will be required to provide safe entrance to the 
agreements and ensure the proposal does not disadvantage WCC. These 
resources will be absorbed into business-as-usual project resources. These 
resources cannot be paid for by PfSH as they will be advising WCC in its 
position in the arrangement.   

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 All sites are owned and operated by the City Council. The works result in 
improved efficiency of the plants and replaces infrastructure to improve water 
efficiency.  

5.2 As council owned infrastructure, the council will be required to upgrade and 
invest in the PTPs over their lifetime. The use of the grant to upgrade a number 
of the PTPs means a future HRA capital budget is not required for these 
upgrades, providing a benefit to the HRA.  

 

 

Page 18



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION  

6.1 The City Council sent Expression of Interest requests to planning applications 
currently held in abeyance to seek interest in buying credits. Out of 29 letters 
sent, 14 replied with a confirmed interest.  

6.2 Careful evaluation is being made of the scale of the work necessary for the 
WwTWs that will be upgraded, which serve both HRA and private properties. 

6.3 Ward members will be briefed on the works to be undertaken and a clear 
communication plan for local residents will be put in place before works 
commence. 

6.4 Consultation is also being undertaken on the wider administration of the 
council’s WwTWs, separate to this project. 

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 The projects by their nature mitigate nutrient inputs into protected water 
systems, allowing development to take place without causing wider harm to the 
protected features. 

7.2 In addition, the replacement of the PTP improves the water quality outputs of 
the council’s WwTWs. Whilst also providing credits for mitigation, this results in 
local improvements to water quality as a result of the project. 

7.3 A council motion was passed on 6 July 2022 to protect our local rivers and 
waterways by taking account of the cumulative impact of pollution including 
sewage discharge. Investment in the upgrade of WwTWs with improved and 
more efficient equipment results in water quality improvements, including in 
rivers, reducing the amount of pollution from sewage discharge. 

8 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 

8.1 The equalities impact assessment concluded that these works would benefit the 
health of the water, which will indirectly benefit the health of the Winchester 
communities.   

8.2 There are no people disadvantaged by this project when measured against all 
protected characteristics. 

9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

9.1 None Required 

 

 

 

Page 19



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

10 RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

Risk  Mitigation Opportunities 

Financial Exposure 

Demand for credits may 

be removed or reduced 

by legislative changes. 

  

 

WCC legal and finance 

teams will ensure we 

have the correct legal 

construct in place to 

prevent spend outside of 

correct authorities. 

 

The upgrades will be 

funded by grant. If 

insufficient income is 

generated from credits, it 

will not impact WCC 

directly. 

 

Exposure to challenge 

Challenge from 

competitor mitigation 

schemes.  

 

Fair credit price set by 

PfSH. 

 

 

Innovation 

WwTW are complex 

systems and project may 

not deliver as many 

credits as expected 

 

Hydrogeological reports 

used to identify the exact 

number of credits – to be 

confirmed by Natural 

England prior to works 

bring instructed. 

 

Experience from previous 

works means the council 

is aware of how to 

develop the projects on 

time and within budgets. 

 

Reputation 

Un-fair distribution of 

available credits may 

damage relationship 

between developers and 

LPA 

 

Developers will have 

choice in the Winchester 

market for credits, this is 

an advantage to them.  

 

Achievement of outcome 

Delays with Local Plan 

examination 

 

 

 

Local Plan demand being 

calculated to be ensured 

it can be met by this and 

wider mitigation schemes. 

 

Page 20



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

Management of existing 

applications held in 

abeyance 

If paper is approved and 

a mitigation option is 

therefore available, the 

LPA will be required to 

refuse applications who 

have not chosen to join 

the mitigation scheme or 

provide alternative 

mitigation. 

Property 

Council housing 

continues to require 

nutrient mitigation 

 

Projected council housing 

demand has been 

subtracted from the 

credits available for the 

market – forms part of 

separate HRA project. 

 

Development of council 

housing, providing 

affordable units for those 

in need. 

Community Support N/A 

Timescales 

Local Plan examinations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning permissions 

continue to be held in 

abeyance 

 

These works will be 

commissioned with 

timeframes taking 

account of the proposed 

Local Plan examination 

timetable to ensure 

nutrient neutrality can be 

demonstrated. 

 

The creation of a nutrient 

scheme will allow the LPA 

to grant consent to 

applications, if the 

nutrient scheme is joined. 

 

Project capacity 

Insufficient resourcing 

 

Experience of previous 

works means the council 

understands the resource 

required. 

 

Other 

Housing Land 

Supply/Delivery test – 

delays to residential 

schemes may start to 

impact on the council’s 

land supply and Housing 

Delivery Test results, 

possibly leading to 

 

This project, alongside 

future projects enabled by 

the re-investment of 

revenue generated, 

ensures that the Local 

Plan can be adopted, and 

delivery tests upheld.  

 

Page 21



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

pressure for un-planned 

development, 

Government intervention, 

and fewer new homes 

available. 

 

NPPF is being updated 

and may result in 

increased housing 

requirements which 

increases demand. 

 

 

 

Natural England may not 

agree with using sites as 

mitigation. 

This is subject to the local 

plan examination. 

 

 

 

 

This project will 

complement other 

mitigation schemes such 

as working collaboratively 

with private companies to 

provide further mitigation 

in the market. 

 

Natural England’s 

Discretionary Advice 

Service will be used 

proactively throughout the 

project to understand any 

potential concerns in the 

planning stages of the 

project. Natural England 

have provided positive 

responses to the previous 

project. 

 
 
 
11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

11.1 Background 

11.2 Nitrate Neutrality impacts all parts of the district. CAB3219 outlines and 
approves a Position Statement which sets out a strategy that enables planning 
applications which require nitrogen mitigation to be approved subject to a 
planning condition, providing developers the opportunity to source credits from 
a number of third-party suppliers prior to the occupation of development. 

11.3 Since June 2022, proposals within the catchment of the River Itchen are also 
required to mitigate Phosphorus. The Itchen catchment covers a central section 
of the district, including larger settlements such as Winchester, New Alresford 
and Colden Common. Third-party mitigation options are limited in number and 
whilst some on-site mitigation options have been used, the Local Planning 
Authority has been unable to process many planning applications which require 
phosphorus mitigation in this area. Currently, 37 applications are held in 
abeyance, amounting to 183 units. 

Page 22



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

11.4 The emerging Winchester District Local Plan 2020 – 2040 is scheduled for 
examination in 2025. The Local Plan has a demand for 6,247 Nitrogen credits 
and 355 Phosphorus credits in the Itchen catchment. Proposed changes to the 
method of calculating housing requirements within the revised National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) may increase this demand further. 

It should be noted that 2 sites have significant Phosphorus demands. 
Alternative mitigation measures are available, and Local Planning Authority 
Officers are working with site promoters to reduce or remove Phosphorus 
requirements, this will reduce the overall demand figure. 

11.5 Details of Proposal  

11.6 Winchester City Council owns 28 Wastewater treatment works (WwTW), many 
of which use Package Treatment Plants (PTPs) to treat wastewater. If a PTP is 
upgraded to remove more nutrients than the existing equipment, the difference 
can be used as a ‘credit’ to mitigate other development. 

11.7 All of the 28 plants have potential to generate nitrate credits. 

17 of the plants are within the Itchen catchment and have the potential to 
generate nitrate and phosphorus credits. 2 of these plants have already been 
upgraded by the HRA, and CAB3470 outlines a project to upgrade further 
plants. These HRA upgrades will generate credits which can be sold to the 
wider market and therefore form part of the council’s overall strategy for nutrient 
mitigation. The HRA will select plants which best meet their needs once 
technical work is completed. 

This proposal outlines how the council’s assets can be used to generate credits 
for the market using PfSH funding, working alongside the HRA projects. 

11.8 PfSH have a dedicated team focussed on nutrient neutrality. PfSH have 
successfully applied for £9.6million funding as part of the Local Nutrient 
Mitigation Fund. This is to be invested in mitigation schemes across the region. 

11.9 The PfSH Joint Committee approved a fund of £900,000 to be provided to WCC 
to undertake WwTW upgrade works on their behalf. An initial allocation of 
£200,000 will be provided for feasibility works and to undertake the works on 
the first plants. The remaining £700,000 will follow once initial technical work 
has been completed, assessed and business cases have been collectively 
agreed by PfSH Chief Executives. 

 

 

 

Page 23



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

11.10 To test the solution, we have desktop assessed ten sites to see what 
mitigation might be produced.  These figures are still considered estimates 
whilst we await hydrogeological reports.  

 Site Nitrogen Credits Phosphorus Credits 

Beech Grove, Owslebury 597 74 

The Pastures, Cheriton 162 20 

Couch Green, Martyr 
Worthy 

187 23 

Baring Close, Itchen Abbas 102 12 

Itchen View, Itchen Stoke 76 9 

North Drive, Littleton 82 10 

Hobbs Close, Bishops 
Sutton 

239 29 

Kiln Lane, Old Alresford 119 14 

The Brook, Old Alresford 170 21 

Woodlark Cottages, Bighton 34 4 

TOTAL 1,768 216 

 

11.11 The initial works on the 10 plants show that the plants have capacity for credit 
generation which can be used as mitigation.  

11.12 The investigation and investment into further plants (both within this PfSH 
project and the HRA project) will provide additional credits available for the 
market. The following demand and supply could be achieved based on the 10 
assessed plants alone: 

 Nitrogen Phosphorus 

Total Itchen catchment 
demand (applications in 
abeyance and local plan 
requirements) 

6,483 364 

Indicative supply from the 
next 10 sites assessed so 
far 

1,768 216 

 

11.13 It should be noted that two large schemes held in our local plan pipeline result 
in a demand for 201 phosphate credits, a significant proportion of the overall 
demand.  

There are on-site mitigation options available to these developments which are 
being considered and the city council will continue to work with developers to 
achieve this.  The sites have been included at this stage as a worst-case 
scenario, however following further work it is expected there would be a 
significant reduction of the overall demand figure. 

Page 24



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

11.14 The recommendations request permission to agree an initial £200k from PfSH 
for initial feasibility studies and authorise use of the funds. 

The following £700k will fund works on the remaining plants so there is certainty 
they can be completed. 

Whilst studies have been completed on the initial 10 sites which show significant 
credit generation, there is potential for any remaining funds to be used to upgrade 
further sites, subject to business cases agreed with PfSH, in order to generate 
further credits available for the market and Local Plan allocations.  

11.15 As a PfSH project, the management, pricing and risk sits with PfSH and as a 
result any revenues will also be retained by the Partnership. A condition of the 
funding is that any revenue is recirculated back into regional nutrient mitigation 
schemes, providing further opportunities for mitigation options. 

 

11.16 Water Efficiency Measures 

11.17 Winchester City Council is also to receive £90,000 from PfSH to run water 
efficiency projects.  These projects will create further nitrate and phosphate 
credits.  It is a condition of the arrangements that credits created by water 
efficiency projects can only be recycled into credits offset against new council-
owned homes.  This is agreed as WCC intends to build 1000 homes in the next 
10 years. 

30 units are available for upgrades immediately, and this will form part of a 
future HRA project with the potential for further credit generation.  

11.18 Third-party mitigation providers 

11.19 The City Council has been approached by a number of private companies 
who upgrade PTPs and then seek to sell the credits generated to the wider 
market. This is an identical process to the council’s own project; however, it 
does not involve any council assets or funding. 

11.20 The council as Local Planning Authority (and competent authority under the 
Habitat Regulations) need to ensure they have sufficient information submitted 
to assess the suitability of this mitigation. 

11.21 The City Council has produced a standard requirements list for section 106 
legal agreements and a fair monitoring fee which allows the council to monitor 
these schemes. This allows further credits to be available for the market.  

 

 

 

Page 25



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

11.22 Summary 

The council strategy to provide nutrient mitigation and release housing 
applications is in three schemes. 

The first is to sell excess credits derived by the completed upgrades undertaken 
by the HRA. The HRA will also undertake further upgrades, generating additional 
credits. This has been considered and approved by CAB3470 (July 2024). 

The second is to work with PfSH, using grant funding, to upgrade further PTPs 
out of the council’s stock of 28. The sites all generate nitrate credits, and 17 
provide phosphorus mitigation. Initial investigations from 10 sites show a 
significant number of credits will be generated, and the government grant 
requires all projects to achieve cost recovery in order to invest any income into 
further mitigation projects and to provide further benefits, providing on-going 
security that further projects can be funded and secured. PfSH are also providing 
grants for water efficiency measures, which will form part of a separate project 
which also generates further credits. 

The third is to work alongside third-party companies as they upgrade their own 
PTPs. The LPA will assess this on a case-by-case basis to ensure the mitigation 
is acceptable, and secure finances and resources for future monitoring. 

When combined, a significant number of credits are generated to ensure there is 
provision for applications held in abeyance and future Local Plan requirements.  

 
12 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  

12.1 Do Nothing – The Council could decline to work with the PfSH Partnership.  
This would result in not having an adequate pipeline for the local plan and WCC 
would lose the benefit of plants being upgraded via grant funding.   

For the reasons above, this option is rejected. 

12.2 Business as Usual – The City Council could continue to signpost developers to 
third-party mitigation schemes. However, due to the geographical mitigation 
requirements for Phosphorus, these third-party options are limited and are 
nearing capacity.  

For the reasons above, this option is rejected. 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



  CAB3459 
 

 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:- 

Previous Committee Reports:- 

 

CAB3219 – Nitrate Neutrality – Wednesday 22 January 2020 

CAB3301 – Nutrient (Nitrate) Neutrality Update – Wednesday 21 July 2021 

CAB3470 – Housing Revenue Account Nutrient Mitigation Proposal – Monday 16 
July 2024 

 

Other Background Documents:- 

None 

 
 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of the Council held on 16 July 2024 and the Extraordinary Meeting of the Council held on 28 August 2024
	Minutes , 28/08/2024 Council

	6 To consider and determine the following Recommended Minutes: of Cabinet held 11 September 2024 - Housing Revenue Account Nutrient Mitigation Proposal (CAB3459) - draft minute of Cabinet to be circulated separately

